

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



JOURNAL OF
PHARMACEUTICAL
AND BIOMEDICAL
ANALYSIS

Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis 40 (2006) 227-234

www.elsevier.com/locate/jpba

Review

The application of inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry in pharmaceutical and biomedical analysis

Jianquan Huang ^{a,*}, Xin Hu ^b, Junren Zhang ^a, Kexin Li ^c, Ying Yan ^d, Xianbin Xu ^a

a Institute of Pharmaceutical Analysis, College of Pharmacy, Shandong University,
 P.O. BOX 112#, No. 44 Wenhua-WestRoad, Jinan 250012, Shandong Province, PR China
 b Department of Pharmacy, Beijing Hospital, The Ministry of Health, No. 1 Dahua-Road,
 Dongdan, District of East-City, Beijing 100730, PR China
 c Laboratory of Clinical Pharmacology, Beijing Hospital, The Ministry of Health, No. 1 Dahua-Road,
 Dongdan, District of East-City, Beijing 100730, PR China
 d Center of Clinical Analysis, Beijing Hospital, The Ministry of Health, No. 1 Dahua-Road,
 Dongdan, District of East-City, Beijing 100730, PR China

Received 10 September 2005; received in revised form 7 November 2005; accepted 10 November 2005 Available online 20 December 2005

Abstract

With the development of life science, pharmaceutical and biomedical analysis becomes more and more important in medical science. Further studies will be hopefully established if it is possible to use inorganic elemental standards or small organic compounds in the quantitative determination of all kinds of drugs, nucleotides and sulfur or phosphorus containing peptides and proteins at appropriate concentration with an acceptable accuracy. Since 1980, inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) has emerged as a new and powerful analytical technique which is suitable for element and isotope analysis. It offers extremely wide detection range of element and co-analysis of most elements in the periodic table. Also, it can be applied to perform qualitative, semiquantitative, and quantitative analysis and isotopic ratios through mass-to-electric charge ratio. With the help of ICP-MS, the struggle of searching for an excellent quantification technique in, e.g. drugs and proteomics has come appreciably close to an end. This review mainly focuses on the introduction of application of ICP-MS in pharmaceutical and biomedical analysis. Some problems in application and the handling strategies are simply presented at the end.

© 2005 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS); Pharmaceutical analysis; Biomedical analysis

Contents

1.	Introduction	228
2.	The principle and construction of ICP-MS	228
3.	The application of ICP-MS in pharmaceutical analysis	228
	3.1. Quantitative analysis of medicine and its metabolites	229
	3.2. Biopharmaceutical analysis	230
	3.3. Heavy metal limit tests	230
	3.4. Evaluation and quality control of Traditional Chinese Medicine	230
4.	The application of ICP-MS in biomedical analysis	231
	4.1. Analysis involved in DNA	231
	4.2. Analysis related to protein	231
	4.3. Analysis of elements related to human health	232

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +86 10 6513 2266 3632; fax: +86 10 6528 3696 1. *E-mail address:* jianquanhuang@mail.sdu.edu.cn (J. Huang).

5.	Brief solutions to the problems in application of ICP-MS	233
6.	Conclusions	233
	References	233

1. Introduction

Since 1980, inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) which is composed of plasma, as the high temperature (8000 K) ionization source, quadrupole mass spectrometer (MS) analyzer, as the sensitive rapid scanning detector and a distinctive interface has emerged as a new and powerful technique for element and isotope analysis [1]. In approximately 10 years, ICP-MS has progressed from a laboratory experiment to commercial development and widespread analytical applications [2-9]. This growth is primarily due to the fact that ICP-MS offers extremely wide detection range of element and co-analysis of most elements in the periodic table, for example, a wide range of elements in concentration levels from ppt to ppm level can be measured in a single analysis. It can perform qualitative, semiquantitative, and quantitative analysis through mass-to-charge ratio. It can also measure isotopic ratios, since employed a mass analyzer. And it is so versatile that the technique can substitute almost all traditional inorganic analytical technique, such as ICP-AES, GF-AAS, F-AAS, etc., in analytical capability. ICP-MS has been coupled to all forms of sample introduction or separation techniques for special analyses, including laser-assisted sample introduction [10,11], low pressure chromatography, high-performance liquid chromatography [12], gas chromatography [13], capillary electrophoresis [14,15], and so on. As one of the most significant developments in analytical science nowadays, ICP-MS has been widely used in many industries. The application which was introduced into geological science research at first has rapidly enlarged to other fields including semiconductor [16], environmental [17], nuclear [18], chemical, clinical [19], and research laboratories after 1984 when the first commercial instrument emerged.

As the ionization source of MS, the advantage of this technique is that the ICP can solve two problems delicately in design of this sort of ionization source. For instance, it supplies the controllable, non-polluting and high-temperature environment which are suitable for specimen stimulation and sampling condition; otherwise, it provides an environment where the retention time is enough for all expected procedures and which is fit for rapid and complete sample introduction. Compared with the traditional inorganic analytical technique, ICP-MS offers wider linear range, lesser interference, higher analytical precision, shorter analytical time and lower detection limit which ranges from sub part per billion (ppb) to sub part per trillion (ppt) for most elements, besides providing precise isotope information. However, the biggest advantage of ICP-MS is that all spectrograms are extremely simple because the peaks mainly come from single charge ion, no matter how complicated the matrix is.

For many sample types and substances, reference or standards are lacking. This problem is often encountered in environmental, biological and clinical analyses as well as in drug

development. In this paper, we will describe the construction, principle and some selected analytical application in pharmaceutical and biomedical analysis of ICP-MS.

2. The principle and construction of ICP-MS

The principle and construction of modern ICP-MS instrument are basically identical on the whole. The ICP-MS instrument employs plasma (ICP) as the ionization source and a mass spectrometer (MS) analyzer to detect the ions produced. The mainly used plasma gas is argon, since it can simultaneously excite and ionize most of the elements in periodic system efficiently, which makes multi-element analysis possible.

Taking the Agilent 7500 as an example, liquid samples are generally introduced by a peristaltic pump, to the nebulizer where the sample aerosol is formed. A double-pass spray chamber ensures that a consistent aerosol is introduced into the plasma. Argon (Ar) gas is introduced through a series of concentric quartz tubes which form the ICP. The torch is located in the center of a RF coil, through which RF energy is passed. The intense RF field causes collisions between the Ar atoms, generating high-energy plasma. The sample aerosol is instantaneously decomposed in the plasma (plasma temperature is in the order of 6000-10,000 K) to form analyte atoms which are simultaneously ionized. The ions produced are extracted from the plasma into the mass spectrometer region which is held at high vacuum (typically 10^{-4} Pa), which is maintained by differential pumping: the analyte ions are extracted through a pair of orifices, known as the sampling and skimmer cones. The analyte ions are then focused by a series of ion lenses into a quadrupole mass analyzer, which separates the ions based on their massto-charge ratio. Finally, the ions are measured using an electron multiplier, and collected by a counter for each mass number.

3. The application of ICP-MS in pharmaceutical analysis

Nowadays, pharmaceutical analysis not only refers to static routine control, but also includes dynamic analysis and has been used for monitoring in the reaction mechanism, metabolic pathway in vivo and full-scale estimation with the assistance of modern analytical method and technique. According to the international drug standard and rapid developments of instrumental analysis, analysts have to promote their ability unceasingly and master the application of modern instrument in pharmaceutical analysis.

Present means of analyses mainly face to organic synthetic drug, and determination of inorganic drug is accomplished by volumetric analysis directly or converted to organic analysis indirectly. However, with the development of modern inorganic analytical technique, the analytical task of inorganic drug can be

completed directly; meanwhile we can also change the analyses of organic drugs to simple inorganic analyses. As an inorganic analytical technique, ICP-MS has played an important role in many fields and been introduced into research and analysis of pharmaceutical science, including quantitative analysis of drug and its metabolites, biopharmaceutical analysis, limit tests of impurity and evaluation and quantity control of the Traditional Chinese Medicine.

3.1. Quantitative analysis of medicine and its metabolites

Quantitative analysis of drugs which can be enforced under diverse assay methods is one of the most important subjects in pharmaceutical analysis and also the primary means in quality evaluation of drugs. Complicated pretreatment which is not only time-consuming and cumbersome, but also specimen-wasting and unacceptable for biological specimen is needed and usually involves in heating or ashing step before analysis of metalor halogen-containing organic drugs. Although identification of drug metabolites can be executed through LC–MS, quantitative analysis of metabolites will be very difficult if there is not proper reference (usually there is no reference). Synthesis with radioactive labeling is another way for this problem, but it is money-costing and time-consuming, and not a good choice unless combining NMR (¹H, ¹⁹F) for quantitative analysis.

ICP-MS not only offers high temperature (8000 K) ionization source for specimen provocation, but also overcomes the limitation of RI, UV or MS for accurate quantification which is concerned with the molecular structure of specimen. Even if the chemical structure or elemental composition is known, the response from these detectors is difficult to predict with any accuracy. In ICP-MS, compounds are atomised and ionised irrespective of the chemical structure incorporating the element of interest. Therefore, it is not necessary to choose the same or analogous molecular structure of reference as the specimen and one reference is enough when quantitative analysis is carried out with ICP-MS. Axelsson et al. [20] applied ICP-MS coupling with LC in generic detection for structurally non-correlated organic pharmaceutical compounds with common elements like phosphorus and iodine. They found that detection of selected elements gave a better quantification of tested 'unknowns' than UV and organic mass spectrometric detection and did not introduce any measurable dead volume and preserves the separation efficiency of the

The wider linear range, lesser interference, higher analytical precision, shorter analytical time and lower detection limits of ICP-MS provide enormous convenience for quantitative analysis of drug and its metabolites. One of these reports employing this approach was carried out by Nicholson et al. [21], which described the profiling and quantification of metabolites of 4-bromoaniline in rat urine. This was followed by a similar study [22] that provided the simultaneous detection of the metabolites of 2-bromo-4-trifluoromethyl-[¹³C]-acetanilide in rat urine by ICP-MS. The metabolites present in the sample were separated by reversed-phase LC and introduced into ICP-MS instrument where bromine-containing metabolites were detected and quantified by ICP-MS.

ICP-MS was also investigated to determine the ⁹⁹Tc/^{99m}Tc ratios in sodium pertechnetate by Hill et al. [23]. It has been recognized for over 20 years that the presence of increased levels of the long-lived radioisotope ⁹⁹Tc in solutions of ^{99m}Tc can adversely affect labeling efficiencies of a number of sensitive reagent kits used in nuclear medicine. Some government authorities impose strict regulatory requirements on the manufacturers of ⁹⁹Mo/^{99m}Tc generators to ensure that high quality pertechnetate is available to the nuclear medical community. Trace levels of ⁹⁹Tc in pertechnetate samples have been quantitatively determined using a number of analytical techniques such as HPLC [24]. Each of these analytical methods suffered a sensitivity problem in the low $ng mL^{-1}$ concentration range. However, the ICP-MS analysis had a sensitivity of approximately 50 pg mL^{-1} for technetium in an isotonic saline matrix and technetium concentrations were measured down to $200 \,\mathrm{pg} \,\mathrm{mL}^{-1}$ (200 ppt).

The ICP-MS is a multi-element detector with high sensitivity, less interference and therefore is a useful tool for investigating metal species behavior. Cisplatinum and carboplatinum complexes are widely used in the treatment of solid tumor. Falter and Wilken [25] adopted ICP-MS coupling with RP-HPLC for investigating the species behavior of the two platinum anti-tumor drugs in aqueous phases. The detection limits were found to be 80 pg for cisplatinum and 130 pg for carboplatinum. The standard deviation was 5% for both compounds.

There are some significant elements for quantitative analysis in the application of ICP-MS: (1) base metal element (Li, Na, K, Rb) and alkali metal element (Mg, Ca, Sr, Ba); (2) transition element which is associated with enzyme, including Cr, Fe, Cu, Zn; (3) Pt, which is used for anti-tumor drugs; (4) the hetero-atoms P, S, Cl, Br, I, which are usually the ingredients of organics. And element-specific detection via quadrupole ICP-MS of chlorine and bromine-containing drugs has been successfully applied [21,22,26]. Accordingly, ICP-MS has been used in analysis of protein phosphorylation by monitoring the phosphorus [27]; (5) other elements, such as Hg, As, and so on. On the whole, all specimen containing elements mentioned above or not can be analyzed rapidly by ICP-MS. In addition, radioelement can be also assayed by ICP-MS.

Vitamin B₁₂, the only metal-containing vitamin, is an essential nutrient for all cells. It acts as a co-enzyme for normal DNA synthesis and promotes normal fat and carbohydrate metabolism. The most means of detection such as UV/Vis, AAS and AEC has limited sensitivity and/or are non-selective, making them unsuitable for determining low levels of cobalamins in complex matrices. Baker and Miller-Ihliet [28] tried to optimize the combination of CE and ICP-MS to determine the suitability of the approach for cobalamin speciation measurements in pharmaceutical preparations and food samples. The purpose of their work was to investigate CE-ICP-MS for the analysis of cobalamins and the potentially harmful corrinoid analogue, cobinamide dicyanide. It is suggested that the technique could be used for the rapid screening of samples for CN-Cb1 in a quality control setting, since most pharmaceutical preparations and fortified products utilize this form. And they believed that ICP-MS is much less time-consuming and would be proved useful for routine determinations.

In the pharmaceutical industry, the detection and identification of impurities/metabolites structurally related to the drug substance are of utmost importance. Conventional methods of analysis to detect, track, quantify, and identify drug substances and related impurities use molecular mass spectrometry via atmospheric pressure ionization (API-MS) or, in the case of drug metabolism and pharmacokinetics, use radiolabeling. However, a significant number of drug substances containing heteroatoms can be detected using element-specific detectors such as ICP-MS. In the work of Evans et al. [29], structurally related impurities well below the 0.1% mass fraction level relative to the main drug substance in the sulfur-containing drug substance cimetidine could easily be detected with liquid chromatography coupled to sector field inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (SF-ICP-MS). The structure of most of the impurities was confirmed by electrospray mass spectrometry (ESI-MS), and thus, the complementarity of the two techniques for drug analysis is shown. The limit of detection by SF-ICP-MS for cimetidine in solution was $4-20 \text{ ng g}^{-1}$. In the analysis of sulfur-containing cimetidine drug substance, the main isotope of sulfur (32S, abundance 95.018%) suffers from a serious interference as a result of the polyatomic ion ${}^{16}\mathrm{O}^{16}\mathrm{O}^+$ at nominal m/e 32. However, Evans et al. resolved this problem through regulating the resolution, allowing the sensitive and selective determination of sulfur.

3.2. Biopharmaceutical analysis

Compared to the routine analyses, there are many distinctions in selectivity, sensitivity and analytes in biopharmaceutical analysis. The more complex biological specimen, trace drugs distributing into massive body fluid and the interference from considerable endogenous interferent and metabolites make the separation and analysis more difficult. Because of the small amount of biological specimen which is not easy to re-obtain, it is more important to develop an analytical method of high sensitivity and well selectivity. ICP-MS will become an excellent and ideal choice if the analytes in biological specimen include any element that is proper for detecting by this analytical tool of high sensitivity and good selectivity.

Research indicates that the tumor is influenced by As in various aspects with the result of cytodifferentiation and apoptosis or re-duplication inhibition of tumor cells. Therefore, it is significant to monitor the concentration of As exactly in serum due to the serious toxicity and extremely narrow therapeutic window. Wang et al. [30] determine the concentration of As in blood samples from healthy volunteers in the study of pharmacokinetics of the Compound Realgar Natural Indigo Tablets (CRNIT) with ICP-MS. This method had a low detection limit of 1 ppm, RSD of 1.45% and recover of 95.03–98.68% and eliminated all sorts of drawbacks (such as large requirement of blood sample, low sensitivity, unreliable technology and obtaining a higher concentration of As in blank specimen than drug-taking sample) of other routine methods such as fluorometric method and AES.

Bismuth compounds have long been used in the treatment of a variety of gastrointestinal disorders, including diarrhea, gastritis and ulcers. Compounds containing radioactive bismuth isotopes (²¹²Bi, ²¹³Bi) have also been used as targeted radiotherapeutic

agents for cancer therapy. Sun and Szeto [31] presented a study on interaction of bismuth anti-ulcer agents with albumin. The competitive binding of bismuth to albumin and transferring was investigated by HPLC and followed by the measurement of Bi³⁺ contents via ICP-MS. They also provided a basis on the pharmacology of Bi³⁺ drugs.

Zhao et al. [32] had described a sensitive method for measuring cisplatin and some possible metabolites. The separation and detection for cisplatin hydrolysis products and the reaction products of cisplatin with methionine, cysteine, and glutathione were investigated with their method combining reversed-phase ion-pairing LC with ICP-MS. The detection limit for cisplatin was found to be 0.1 ng. Three methods, AAS, ICP-AES and ICP-MS, for tissue platinum measurement were attempted by Minami et al. [33]. At last they had a conclusion that ICP-MS is the most suitable and sensitive method because of its low detection limit for determination of tissue platinum. These researches had demonstrated the usefulness of ICP-MS for studies of platinum-containing anti-tumor drugs.

3.3. Heavy metal limit tests

The current limit tests methods for heavy metal were developed before the advent of modern analytical instrumentation and are based on Pharmacopeia, which can be easily transferred from one laboratory to another and do not require expensive instrumentation or highly trained laboratory personnel to perform them. However, the methods rely on a subjective visual examination, require large amounts of sample, provide no qualitative or element-specific information, and usually involve a heating or ashing step, which is known to cause losses of the volatile elements. In addition, the treatment of colored sample, the interference of insoluble sulfuret because of the detected drugs and the presence of other metal elements make the limit test more formidable. In a word, all these factors mentioned above make limit tests methods of Pharmacopeia a difficulty in obtaining reliable and reproducible results.

The advantages of ICP-MS redeem all the shortcoming of conventional methods and it was selected as the basis of the alternative method, making the analysis simple and controllable, since it provides good sensitivity, requires minimal sample size, affords minimal elemental interferences, provides a means to perform rapid and automated multi-elemental analyses and there is no dependence of the various chemical functionalities contained in the sample matrices on the individual element recoveries. Accordingly, Wang et al. [34] and Lewen et al. [35] suggested that ICP-MS can be applied to do limit tests of drug substances, intermediates, and raw materials instead of the routine methods collected in the Pharmacopeia such as USP, BP, EP, and so on.

3.4. Evaluation and quality control of Traditional Chinese Medicine

Evaluation of Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) is very important to the quality control of TCM, and can supply instruction for planting and culture, too. The characteristics of trace

elements of TCM, including complex composition, extremely low content and intricate existing form, are the main standards for quality evaluation. So, the high sensitivity and good selectivity should be considered at first in the choice of analytical methods. Before ICP-MS, ICP-AES played an important part in application of this direction. Later ICP-MS was introduced into analysis of trace elements of TCM [36,37], and became a received and effective analytical tool with the microwave-assisted oven systems in this field.

Huang et al. [38] had accurately determined the heavy metals in reference material of radix salvia planted in Zhongjiang, Sichuan Province, China under the good agricultural procedure (GAP) with ICP-MS. The measuring method was validated by running certificated reference materials under the same conditions. The recoveries of the elements mostly ranged from 90 to 110%, and the RSD was within 5%. They also repeated their measurement by different laboratories with ICP-MS and by several time intervals in one year for the stability. The results showed that the concentrations of the heavy metals provided were accurate and the reference material was stable. At last they made a conclusion that the reference material is suitable to be the criterions of heavy metals for radix salvia in the qualities controlling, and is also suitable to be the criterions of poisonous heavy metals of other herbs in the administration of GAP.

4. The application of ICP-MS in biomedical analysis

With the continuing developments of new techniques and applications, inorganic MS has stretched into life science, and combining the organic MS to solve some advancing front topics. It appears that ICP-MS has opened a new door to biomedical research. The emerging interdisciplinary research has the potential to become a new bridge between inorganic MS and the life sciences for improving health. In this part, we shall depict some application of ICP-MS and relative coupling techniques in biomedical analysis.

4.1. Analysis involved in DNA

Initiation of cancer growth has been associated with modification of the common nucleobases in DNA and changes in DNA structure which can be caused by chemical modification such as styrene oxide. To gain deeper insight into the induction of cancer, detection and quantification of DNA adducts formed by carcinogenic substances is essential. Several methods for detection of DNA adducts including immunoassays, mass spectrometry, and ³²P-post-labelling assays, based on the synthetic reference materials which are not often available or easily made, have been developed in the last two decades. However, identification of unknown modifications is not possible. It is also questionable whether these techniques really includes all adducts quantitatively accurately because of the different response of DNA adducts, especially with the technique ³²P-post-labelling assays. A solution to this problem could be found only if a common feature in all nucleotides regardless of their structure could be used, which would allow a sensitive and quantitative determination based on an internal standard, e.g. LC-ICP-MS was employed to

determine quantitatively the content of modified nucleotides in standard solutions based on the signal of phosphorus; phosphoric acid served as an internal standard [39]. Such a feature could be the natural phosphorus in nucleotides with a detector specific for that element. The technique of choice is ICP-MS, since it has structure-independent sensitivity and element speciation-independent in detection capability. This technique also can be applied in the separation of alkylated nucleotides from the large excess of native nucleotides.

Edler et al. [40] had quantification of the adducts in the DNA sample, with an internal standard bis(4-nitrophenyl)phosphate (BNPP) by means of the phosphorus signal measured at mass m/z = 31 with ICP-MS. It is important to realize that it is not necessary at this stage to know the structures of the DNA adducts, since the measurement is based on the atomic signal of phosphorus. The absolute limit of detection of 45 fmol corresponds to the detection of three modified nucleotides among 10^7 native nucleotides.

It is generally accepted that the toxicity of cisplatin is primarily the consequence of its capacity to bind genomic DNA. Nevertheless, Amran et al. [41] have demonstrated that cisplatin causes intracellular oxidation, which may also be important for apoptosis. For these reasons, experiments [41] were carried out to measure DNA platination, as an indication of cisplatin-DNA binding, with FI-ICP-MS.

4.2. Analysis related to protein

The use of ICP-MS in the biomedical arena has grown enormously in recent years and will continue to do so, particularly in the area of metal concentration determinations in protein samples for the proteomics field [42].

A similar simultaneous detection approach was utilized on bradykinin metabolism in human and rat plasma [43,44]. In these studies, the bradykinin was bromine-labelled to enable detection and quantification by ICP-MS. A further enhancement of this approach was afforded by Axelsson et al. [45] who combined ICP-MS with accurate mass measurement of their organic pharmaceutical compounds.

Metals play an important and essential role as cofactors of proteins in biological systems. The absence or a deficit of essential metals (such as Fe, Cu, Se, Zn) in proteins results in deficiency diseases, but these metals can also catalyze cytotoxic reactions. The investigation of metal-containing proteins is a new and challenging task in the proteomics field including the protein identification and the determination of the metal concentration, which requires sensitive analytical techniques and powerful equipment. Apart from the determination of phosphorus, the quantitative determination of zinc, copper and iron in brain proteins is of special interest for studying neurodegenerative diseases, such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease. FI-ICP-MS has been successfully applied to the selective analysis of Alzheimer's plaque core for the first time by Beauchemin and Kisilevsky [46].

LA-ICP-SFMS also represents a powerful tool for the detection of metal-containing proteins in Alzheimer-diseased brain. Becker et al. [47] had done some researches on the metal-

containing proteins (especially with copper, iron and zinc ions) in Alzheimer brain protein sample after separation by 2D gel electrophoresis via tracer experiments with laser ablation ICP-MS (LA-ICP-MS). In their study, the main advantage of the screening procedure by LA-ICP-MS is that the time required for the structure analysis of all proteins can be reduced significantly by a pre-selection of protein spots containing metals of interest. A qualitative survey analysis several protein spots from Alzheimer-diseased brain containing Cu, Zn and Fe were analyzed with respect to ⁵⁴Fe/⁵⁶Fe, ⁶⁵Cu/⁶³Cu and ⁶⁷Zn/⁶⁴Zn isotope ratios.

The liver is an important organ that performs many metabolic functions. Wang et al. [48] offered a method to identify the molecular weight fractions that contain particular elements of interest in aqueous extracts from liver with SEC-ICP-MS which provided very high sensitivity. They removed polyatomic interferences for some difficult elements like Fe, S, and P through measuring at medium spectral resolution.

At elevated concentrations, trace elements may induce toxic effects, hence there is a need to monitor and assess heavy metal status, particularly in occupationally exposed individuals and for patients receiving metallodrug therapy. Neilsen et al. [49] reported that laser ablation ICP-MS in combination with gel electrophoresis provides a novel route for the identification, quantitation and distributions of metal binding proteins in serum. With CE-ICP-MS, these studies including confirmation of a specific affinity of cisplatin and novel Pt complexes to HSA, measurement of the kinetics of binding reactions, and determination of the number of drug molecules attached to the protein were successfully done by Timerbaev et al. [50].

Reversible phosphorylation of proteins at Ser, Thr, and Tyr residues is probably the functionally most important covalent modification of proteins. The standard technology for investigating protein phosphorylation is based on incorporation of ³²P or ³³P from phosphate or an activated phosphate ester such as ATP, respectively. Despite high sensitivity and reliability, this technology has some inherent drawbacks. Wind et al. [51] introduced a new analytical dimension, CapLC-ICP-MS, a new, robust, and specific method in phosphoproteomics, in the analysis of protein phosphorylation. The method was demonstrated for the analysis of a complex mixture of synthetic phosphopeptides and a set of tryptic digests of three phosphoproteins with ³¹P detection. These include β-casein, activated human MAP kinase ERK1, and protein kinase A catalytic subunit. The detection limit achieved for the CapLC-ICP-MS runs is 0.1 pmol of phosphopeptide injected.

4.3. Analysis of elements related to human health

It is known that while many elements are considered essential to human health, many others can be toxic. However, because the intake, accumulation, transport, storage and interaction of these different metals and metalloids in nature are strongly influenced by their specific elemental form, complete characterization of the element is essential when assessing its benefits and/or risk. Consequently, interest has grown rapidly in determining oxida-

tion state, chemical ligand association, and complex forms of a many different elements.

ICP-MS has become one of the most popular techniques for elemental speciation studies. Fosset et al. [52] used this powerful technique as a tool to measure the uptake of Cu with natural isotopes in HepG2 cells, a liver cell line used extensively to study Cu metabolism. And the ⁶³Cu/⁶⁵Cu ratio can be measured accurately.

Metabolites of many trace elements are present in body fluids and are excreted in urine. These metabolites give clues as to the biological function of the trace elements and may help to assess their toxicity or benefit to human health. Therefore, speciation of these samples has gained interest. ICP-MS analysis of urine, in particular, has become wide spread [53–58].

Sanz-Medel et al. [59] reviewed the metallo-complexes separations, including coordination complexes of metals with larger proteins (e.g. in serum, breast milk, etc.) and metallothioneins (e.g. in cytosols from animals and plants) as well as selenoproteins (e.g. in nutritional supplements), DNA–cisplatin adducts and metal/semimetal binding to carbohydrates, using size-exclusion (SEC), ion-exchange (IE), reverse phase chromatography (RP) and capillary electrophoresis (CE).

Studies on the iron isotopic composition of human blood and liver had been carried out with ICP-MS by Walczyk and Blanck-enburg [60]. They evaluated the new data for body tissues which show that blood and muscle tissue have a similar iron isotopic composition while heavier iron isotopes are concentrated in the liver. This phenomenon, known as mass-dependent isotope fractionation, has been known since decades for the lighter elements such as hydrogen, carbon, oxygen, and nitrogen. Bohn et al. [61] and Skulan et al. [62] had also undertaken the same researches to magnesium in the human body and calcium in higher organisms separately.

Trace elements can interact with each other in vivo. This may affect the absorption, metabolism, or utilization of the elements. A better understanding of element interactions could increase the ability to predict susceptibility to trace element toxicity, or to anticipate the development of deficiency/excess. ICP-MS constitutes an advantageous technique, which enables simultaneous multi-element analysis, thus facilitating studies of the relations between element concentrations. Barany et al. [63] presented a study to explore the correlations between different trace elements, both toxic and essential, with ICP-MS in a cohort of adolescents. They found a large number of correlations between 13 trace elements (Co, Cu, Zn, Se, Rb, Rh, Pd, Cd, W, Pt, Hg, Tl, and Pb) in human blood and/or serum, by investigating in 372 Swedish adolescents. Notably, serum Se correlated with blood Pb and blood Hg and Cu and Zn were correlated to each other in both blood and serum.

It is known that arsenic, similar with Hg, Cd and Se, has different toxicological properties dependent upon both its oxidation state for inorganic compounds, as well as the different toxicity levels exhibited for organic arsenic compounds. The field of arsenic speciation analysis has grown rapidly in recent years, especially with the utilization of ICP-MS, a highly sensitive and robust detector system, which had been applied for speciation analysis of Hg, Cd and Se

coupling with HPLC [64–69]. Dopp et al. [70] had taken a research to investigate the genotoxic effects and the cellular uptake of inorganic arsenic [arsenate, As(V); arsenite, As(III)] and the methylated arsenic species monomethylarsonic acid [MMA(V)], monomethylarsonous acid [MMA(III)], dimethylarsinic acid [DMA(V)], dimethylarsinious acid [DMA(III)], trimethylarsenic oxide [TMAO(V)] in Chinese Hamster ovary (CHO-9) cells. Intracellular arsenic concentrations were determined by ICP-MS. Their results showed that MMA(III) and DMA(III) induced cytotoxic and genotoxic effects to a greater extent than MMA(V) or DMA(V). The uptake of the chemicals was also measured by ICP-MS, and they found that only 0.03% MMA(V) and DMA(V), and 2% MMA(III), As(III) and (V) were taken up by the cells.

5. Brief solutions to the problems in application of ICP-MS

As a new analytical technique, ICP-MS has shown its extraordinary advantages compared with other analytical methods in every aspect. However, the existing problems, such as signal fluctuation, matrix effect, double electric charge ion (because of some elements which have the low ionization energy, but it is a scarce type of interference evoked by these elements), oxides, polyatomic ion (a type of frequent interference), isobar and memory effect, are so widespread in application that every analyst should take it seriously.

It is an effective method to revise the signal fluctuation and matrix effect with the internal standard. The elements with the close mass number will suffer the similar influence of signal fluctuation and matrix effect [71–73]. Thus, it has become a regulation that the mass number of internal standard should be close to the analytes for the selection of internal standard. Accordingly, it will be better to take a double-internal standard rather than single-internal standard in multi-element analysis. Matrix effect which maybe is the most severe interference can also be eliminated with the matching standard of matrix, isotope dilution (ID), or some more simple methods such as specimen dilution and separating the element from the matrix before analysis. Interference from double electric charge ion is so slight that assayers can ignore it unless there are elements with low secondary ionization energy, such as Ba and Ce. The oxides rarely exceed the limit of 5% under normal operating conditions, and this level is acceptable in routine analyses. It is not difficult to control the oxides under the suitable level, including elevating the temperature of plasma, slowing the rate of spraying gas flow and ensuring the area of forming oxides close to the interface. Interference of the polyatomic ion is frequent [74,75]. Regulating the resolution which is mentioned in this review [29] is a common means for resolving this question. Another problem caused by the isobar [76] is inevitable during quantitative analysis via detecting the mass-to-charge ratio. However, since the existence of isotope, the analyte can be determined via detecting another isotope which is not interfered by isobar or eliminating the interference caused by isobar by detecting isotope of isobar. Memory effect [77–81] which can be solved by selecting proper plasma operating conditions such as the rate

of spraying gas flow and concentration of matrix is not a significant problem. It will also be decreased by diminishing the concentration of reference to a suitable level, e.g. the same as the analyte.

In fact, the interference will not exceed the acceptable limits under the normal operating conditions, and there will be more accumulated experience which is valuable for the routine analyses for assayers during the application.

6. Conclusions

ICP-MS has the required power to provide ultra-trace elemental detection, which also allows elucidating temporally overlapping chromatographic peaks. With high sensitivities, low detection limits, mass (elemental) selectivity, isotope ratio capabilities, and wide dynamic ranges, ICP-MS is not only the best detector in typical speciation analysis, but also in, for example, drug (especially during the drug development and quantitative analysis of metabolites), protein and gene research at this time. Further studies will be hopefully established if it is possible to use inorganic elemental standards or small organic compounds in the quantitative determination of all kinds of drugs, nucleotides and sulfur or phosphorus containing peptides and proteins at appropriate concentration with an acceptable accuracy. With the help of ICP-MS, the struggle of searching for an excellent quantification technique in, e.g. drugs and proteomics have come appreciably close to an end. In addition, combining the organic MS [29] during the application is another orientation of development for ICP-MS. In a word, ICP-MS will play a more and more important role in pharmaceutical and biomedical analysis.

References

- R.S. Houk, V.A. Fassel, G.D. Flesche, H.J. Svec, A.L. Gray, C.E. Taylor, Anal. Chem. 52 (1980) 2283–2289.
- [2] A.R. Date, A.L. Gray, Mass Spectrom. 6 (1981) 252-266.
- [3] A.R. Date, A.L. Gray, Analyst 108 (1983) 159-165.
- [4] R.S. Houk, V.A. Fassel, H.J. Svec, Mass Spectrom. 6 (1981) 234-251.
- [5] A.R. Date, A.L. Gray, Analyst 106 (1981) 1255-1267.
- [6] A.R. Date, A.L. Gray, Int. J. Mass Spectrom. Ion Phys. 48 (1983) 357–360.
- [7] D.J. Douglas, E.S.K. Quan, R.G. Smith, Spectrochim. Acta 38B (1983) 39–48.
- [8] A.R. Date, A.L. Gray, Spectrochim. Acta B 38 (1983) 29-37.
- [9] A.R. Date, A.L. Gray, Analyst 108 (1983) 1033-1050.
- [10] S.F. Boulyga, J. Heilmann, K.G. Heumann, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 382 (2005) 1808–1814.
- [11] J.H. 4th Barnes r4th, G.D. Schilling, G.M. Hieftje, R.P. Sperline, M.B. Denton, C.J. Barinaga, D.W. Koppenaal, J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 15 (2004) 769–776.
- [12] M. Montes-Bayon, K. DeNicola, J.A. Caruso, J. Chromatogr. A 1000 (2003) 457–476.
- [13] B. Bouyssiere, J. Szpunar, G. Lespes, R. Lobinski, Adv. Chromatogr. 42 (2003) 107–137.
- [14] S.S. Kannamkumarath, K. Wrobel, K. Wrobel, C. B'Hymer, J.A. Caruso, J. Chromatogr. A 975 (2002) 245–266.
- [15] A. Prange, D. Schaumloffel, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 373 (2002) 441-453.
- [16] K. Kawabata, Y. Mu, K. Mizobuchi, Guang Pu Xue Yu Guang Pu Fen Xi 20 (2000) 167–169.

- [17] J.T. Creed, M.L. Magnuson, J.D. Pfaff, C. Brockhoff, J. Chromatogr. A 753 (1996) 261–267.
- [18] S. Rollin, Z. Kopatjtic, B. Wernli, B. Magyar, J. Chromatogr. A 739 (1996) 139–149.
- [19] J.A. Bornhorst, J.W. Hunt, F.M. Urry, G.A. McMillin, Am. J. Clin. Pathol. 123 (2005) 578–583.
- [20] B.O. Axelsson, M. Jornten-Karlsson, P. Michelsen, F. Abou-Shakra, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 15 (2001) 375–385.
- [21] J.K. Nicholson, J.C. Lindon, G. Scarfe, I.D. Wilson, F. Abou-Shakra, J. Castro-Perez, A. Eaton, S. Preece, Analyst 125 (2000) 235–236.
- [22] J.K. Nicholson, J.C. Lindon, G.B. Scarfe, I.D. Wilson, F. Abou-Shakra, A.B. Sage, J. Castro-Perez, Anal. Chem. 73 (2001) 1491–1494.
- [23] D.M. Hill, R.K. Barnes, H.K. Wong, A.W. Zawadzki, Appl. Radiat. Isotop. 53 (2000) 415–419.
- [24] J. Bonnyman, Appl. Radiat. Isotop. 34 (1983) 901-906.
- [25] R. Falter, R.D. Wilken, Sci. Total Environ. 225 (1999) 167-176.
- [26] O. Corcoran, J.K. Nicholson, E.M. Lenz, F. Abou-Shakra, J. Castro-Perez, A.B. Sage, I.D. Wilson, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 14 (2000) 2377–2384.
- [27] M. Wind, M. Edler, N. Jakubowski, M. Linscheid, H. Wesch, W.D. Lehmann, Anal. Chem. 73 (2001) 29–35.
- [28] S.A. Baker, N.J. Miller-Ihli, Spectrochim. Acta B 55 (2000) 1823-1832.
- [29] E.H. Evans, J.C. Wolff, C. Eckers, Anal. Chem. 73 (2001) 4722-4728.
- [30] X. Wang, R. Qiu, W. Yao, Y. Lin, Jiefangjun Yaoxue Xuebao 18 (2002) 265–267 (in Chinese).
- [31] H. Sun, K.Y. Szeto, J. Inorg. Biochem. 94 (2003) 114-120.
- [32] Z. Zhao, K. Tepperman, J.G. Dorsey, R.C. Elder, J. Chromatogr. 615 (1993) 83–89.
- [33] T. Minami, M. Chii, Y. Kazaki, Biol. Trace Elem. Res. 48 (1995) 37-44.
- [34] T. Wang, J. Wu, R. Hartman, X. Jia, R.S. Egan, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 23 (2000) 867–890.
- [35] N. Lewen, S. Mathew, M. Schenkenberger, T. Raglione, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 35 (2004) 739–752.
- [36] D. Wang, C. Wang, G. Zhao, Z. Wei, Y. Tao, X. Liang, Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 65 (2004) 1987–1992.
- [37] A. Lozak, K. Soltyk, P. Ostapczuk, Z. Fijalek, Sci. Total Environ. 289 (2002) 33–40.
- [38] Z. Huang, Z. Zhuang, X. Wang, F.S. Lee, Zhongguo Zhong Yao Za Zhi 28 (2003) 808–811 (in Chinese).
- [39] C. Siethoff, I. Feldmann, N. Jakubowski, M.J. Linscheid, J. Mass Spectrom. 34 (1999) 421–426.
- [40] M. Edler, N. Jakubowski, M. Linscheid, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 381 (2005) 205–211.
- [41] D. Amran, P. Sancho, C. Fernandez, D. Esteban, A.M. Ramos, E. Blas, M. Gomez, M.A. Palacios, P. Aller, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1743 (2005) 269–279.
- [42] H. Ding, J. Wang, J.G. Dorsey, J.A. Caruso, J. Chromatogr. A 694 (1995) 425–431.
- [43] P. Marshall, O. Heudi, S. Mckeown, A. Amour, F. Abou-Shakra, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 16 (2002) 220–228.
- [44] O. Heudi, C. Ramirez-Molina, P. Marshall, A. Amour, S. Peace, S. Mckeown, F. Abou-Skakra, J. Peptide Sci. 8 (2002) 591–600.
- [45] B.O. Axelsson, M. Jornten-Karlsson, P. Michelsen, F. Abou-Shakra, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 15 (2001) 375–385.
- [46] D. Beauchemin, R. Kisilevsky, Anal. Chem. 70 (1998) 1026-1029.
- [47] J.S. Becker, M. Zoriy, C. Pickhardt, M. Przybylski, J.S. Becker, Int. J. Mass Spectrom. 242 (2005) 135–144.
- [48] J. Wang, D. Dreessen, D.R. Wiederin, R.S. Houk, Anal. Biochem. 288 (2001) 89–96
- [49] J.L. Neilsen, A. Abildtrup, J. Christensen, P. Watson, A. Cox, C.W. McLeod, Spectrochim. Acta B 53 (1998) 339–345.

- [50] A.R. Timerbaev, S.S. Aleksenko, K. Polec-Pawlak, R. Ruzik, O. Semenova, C.G. Hartinger, S. Oszwaldowski, M. Galanski, M. Jarosz, B.K. Keppler, Electrophoresis 25 (2004) 1988–1995.
- [51] M. Wind, M. Edler, N. Jakubowski, M. Linscheid, H. Wesch, W.D. Lehmann, Anal. Chem. 73 (2001) 29–35.
- [52] C. Fosset, B.A. McGaw, M.D. Reid, H.J. McArdle, J. Inorg. Biochem. 99 (2005) 1018–1022.
- [53] B. Gammelgaard, L. Bendahl, U. Sidenius, O. Jons, J. Anal. Atom. Spectrom. 17 (2002) 570–575.
- [54] S.C.K. Shum, H.M. Pang, R.S. Houk, Anal. Chem. 64 (1992) 2444–2450.
- [55] B. Gammelgaard, O. Jons, J. Anal. Atom. Spectrom. 15 (2000) 945–949.
- [56] B. Gammelgaard, O. Jøns, L. Bendahl, J. Anal. Atom. Spectrom. 16 (2001) 339–344.
- [57] X.C. Le, M. Ma, J. Chromatogr. A 764 (1997) 55-64.
- [58] R. Ritsema, L. Dukan, T.R. Navarro, W. Leeuwen, N. Oliveira, P. Wolfs, E. Lebret, Appl. Organomet. Chem. 12 (1998) 591–599.
- [59] A. Sanz-Medel, M. Montes-Bayon, M.L.F. Sanchez, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 377 (2003) 236–247.
- [60] T. Walczyk, F.V. Blanckenburg, Int. J. Mass Spectrom. 242 (2005) 117–134
- [61] T. Bohn, T. Walczyk, L. Davidsson, W. Pritzkow, P. Klingbeil, J. Vogl, R.F. Hurrell, Br. J. Nutr. 91 (2004) 113–120.
- [62] J.L. Skulan, D.J. DePaolo, T.L. Owens, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 96 (1999) 13709–13713.
- [63] E. Barany, I.A. Bergdahl, L.E. Bratteby, T. Lundh, G. Samuelson, A. Schutz, S. Skerfving, A. Oskarsson, Toxicol. Lett. 134 (2002) 177–184.
- [64] B.K. Mandal, Y. Ogra, K. Anzai, K.T. Suzuki, Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 198 (2004) 307–318.
- [65] G. Alvarez-Llamas, M.R. Fernandez, A. Sanz-Medel, Anal. Chim. Acta 448 (2001) 105–119.
- [66] R. Chen, B.W. Smith, J.D. Winefordner, M.S. Tu, G. Kertulis, L.Q. Ma, Anal. Chim. Acta 504 (2004) 199–207.
- [67] A. Chatterjee, Y. Shibata, H. Tao, A. Tanaka, M. Morita, J. Chromatogr. A 1042 (2004) 99–106.
- [68] C.S. Chiou, S.J. Jiang, K.S.K. Danadurai, Spectrochim. Acta B 56 (2001) 1133–1142.
- [69] K. Polec-Pawlak, R. Ruzik, K. Abramski, M. Ciurzynska, H. Gawronska, Anal. Chim. Acta 540 (2005) 61–70.
- [70] E. Dopp, L.M. Hartmann, A.M. Florea, U. Recklinghausen, R. Pieper, B. Shokouhi, A.W. Rettenmeier, A.V. Hirner, G. Obe, Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 201 (2004) 156–165.
- [71] M.M. Castineira, R. Brandt, A. von Bohlen, N. Jakubowski, Fresenius' J. Anal. Chem. 370 (2001) 553–558.
- [72] H. Ding, M.M. Goldberg, J.H. Raymer, J. Holmes, J. Stanko, S.G. Chaney, Biol. Trace Elem. Res. 67 (1999) 1–11.
- [73] J.Y. Wang, H.D. Zhu, L. Ouyang, Y.Q. Liu, X.Y. Wang, Z. Huang, N.F. Wang, H.S. Liu, Guang Pu Xue Yu Guang Pu Fen Xi 24 (2004) 1117–1120 (in Chinese).
- [74] N.I. Ward, L.M. Dudding, Sci. Total Environ. 334-335 (2004) 457-463.
- [75] K. Venth, K. Danzer, G. Kundermann, K.H. Blaufuss, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 354 (1996) 811–817.
- [76] J. Meija, J.A. Caruso, J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 15 (2004) 648-654.
- [77] J. Diemer, C.R. Quetel, P.D. Taylor, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 374 (2002) 220–225.
- [78] M.A. Reis, L.C. Alves, M.C. Freitas, B.O. Van, J. de Goeij, H.T. Wolter-beek, Environ. Pollut. 120 (2002) 87–95.
- [79] R.N. Sah, P.H. Brown, Biol. Trace Elem. Res. 66 (1998) 39-53.
- [80] T.U. Probst, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 354 (1996) 782-787.
- [81] A.Z. Mason, S.D. Storms, K.D. Jenkins, Anal. Biochem. 186 (1990) 187–201.